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PART ONE



THE OPERATION















Chapter 1



“OBJECTIVE MEDUSA”


“WELCOME,” said Congressman Devin Nunes, “to the last gasp of the Russian collusion conspiracy theory.”


It was July 24, 2019, the first time he’d come face to face with Special Counsel Robert Mueller III. And now their meeting was taking place in public, on Capitol Hill, in front of millions of people watching at home on television. At least half the audience had their hopes pinned on Mueller. The former director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation had been appointed in May 2017 to continue the Bureau’s probe into Russian interference in the 2016 election. He represented what had once been the best chance of changing the outcome of the election by bringing down Trump.


What had stopped him was Nunes. The former chairman and now ranking member of the House Intelligence Committee had been studying the Russia-Trump collusion investigation for nearly two and a half years. Nunes had discovered, and produced evidence, that the FBI and Department of Justice had abused the resources of the federal government to spy on Donald J. Trump, his campaign, his transition team, and his presidency.


Nunes knew that the FBI had no collusion case against Trump. The FBI had no evidence, except for political dirt paid for by Hillary Clinton’s campaign.


With Nunes closing off avenues, Mueller had to adjust. He turned it into an obstruction investigation, which had lasted nearly two years until Attorney General William Barr had shut that down, too. Like Nunes, Barr understood that Mueller was running an operation, not an investigation.


On March 22, 2019, Mueller produced his final report. After spending more than $30 million and employing dozens of attorneys and FBI agents, the special counsel found no evidence that Trump or his associates had colluded with Russia. Nonetheless, Mueller’s devotees found hope in the report insinuating that the president might have obstructed justice. Democrats summoned him to testify before Congress in an effort to bring the report to life, a television reenactment that might with luck lead to Trump’s impeachment. After a long career in public service, the seventy-four-year-old Mueller’s last act was as a political mannequin.


He surely wasn’t there to answer real questions about the investigation, the questions that Nunes had been asking since March 2017: When did the investigation start? Based on what evidence? Under whose authority? What other US agencies or departments were involved? Which US governmental personnel had a hand in the operation? How high did it go? How many spies were sent against Trump’s presidential campaign?


Mueller brushed any probing questions aside. They weren’t, as he said repeatedly, “in his purview.” The special counsel stumbled over even friendly questions. He claimed ignorance of important investigative details. He appeared not to know much of what was in the report that carried his name.


Nunes read from a prepared statement:




In March 2017, Democrats on this committee said they had “more than circumstantial evidence” of collusion, but they couldn’t reveal it yet. Mr. Mueller was soon appointed, and they said he would find the collusion.


Then when no collusion was found in Mr. Mueller’s indictments, the Democrats said we’d find it in his final report.


Then when there was no collusion in the report, we were told Attorney General Barr was hiding it.


Then when it was clear Barr wasn’t hiding anything, we were told it will be revealed through a hearing with Mr. Mueller himself.


And now that Mr. Mueller is here, they are claiming that the collusion has actually been in his report all along, hidden in plain sight.





Mueller started impassively at Nunes as the congressman concluded his speech. “It’s time for the curtain to close on the Russia hoax,” said Nunes. “The conspiracy theory is dead.”


Nunes spoke the truth for those with ears to hear it. It was the American voter who chose Trump, not Putin. The efforts to undermine Trump’s candidacy, destroy his presidency, and criminalize political differences were also attacks on American institutions and the American public. No one had risked more to tell the truth than Nunes. His strange odyssey had started precisely two years before Mueller filed his final report.
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On March 22, 2017, Nunes was on his way to the White House to tell Trump about what he’d seen. The chairman of the House Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence (HPSCI) looked alarmed. What concerned him that afternoon wasn’t a hostile action taken by foreign adversaries, terrorists, or the intelligence services of a rogue nation-state; rather, it was something that American spies had done to Americans. Nunes had seen evidence of a plot against the president.


Earlier in the month, the recently inaugurated Trump had written on Twitter that his predecessor had spied on him: “Just found out that Obama had my wires tapped in Trump Tower just before the victory.”


Trump’s statements regularly touched off a firestorm. His opponents found cause to denounce his every utterance even as the same words rallied his supporters. But this was different. He’d accused the president of the United States of spying on a political campaign, his. It was unthinkable. Yet sources had shown Nunes that Barack Obama administration officials had asked for the identities of Trump transition team members to be unredacted from intelligence reports.


Typically, the identities—names, titles, and so on—of US citizens are redacted, i.e., “masked,” to protect their privacy rights. Unmasking is not illegal, and there are legitimate reasons to ask for the identity of an American to be unmasked. But Nunes had seen evidence of an extensive campaign of unmaskings, for no apparent purpose except to spy on the Trump team.


Nunes, wearing a blue pin-striped suit, approached a group of several dozen reporters, photographers, and TV cameramen assembled at the bottom of a staircase in the Capitol Hill Visitor Center. He stood at a narrow lectern with a dozen microphones to accommodate all the media. The event was carried live on several networks. He unfolded a prepared statement and began.




While I said there was not a physical wiretap of Trump Tower, I was concerned that other surveillance activities were used against President Trump and his associates. First, I recently confirmed on numerous occasions, the US intelligence community incidentally collected information about US citizens in the Trump transition. Details about US persons associated with the incoming administration, details with little or no apparent foreign intelligence value were widely disseminated in intelligence community reporting. I have confirmed that additional names of Trump transition team members were unmasked. Fourth and finally, I want to be clear, none of the surveillance was related to Russia or the investigation of Russian activities, or of the Trump team.





The Obama administration had unmasked the identities of Trump associates. The wide dissemination of information identifying them had increased the likelihood that it would be leaked to the media.


Nunes had touched on the essence of what would eventually be understood as the political operation to destroy Trump. It began in the winter of 2015–2016. It consisted of two components, intertwined.


One involved senior Obama officials from the US law enforcement and intelligence communities as well as the diplomatic corps. They had used electronic surveillance and confidential human sources to spy on and entrap the Trump team. They had leaked classified information to the press to portray Trump and his circle as compromised by hidden ties to the Russian government. That was a political espionage campaign, often conducted clandestinely.


The other component was the media campaign. The press had published leaks of classified intelligence as well as political dirt provided by Clinton operatives to build an echo chamber smearing Trump as a Russian agent.


The operation had had two separate legs: it was designed, first, to undermine his campaign; after Trump won, the operation continued, but now its goal was to bring down the president.


Nunes continued:




The House Intelligence Committee will thoroughly investigate surveillance and its subsequent dissemination to determine… who was aware of it? Why was it not disclosed to Congress? Who requested the additional unmasking? Whether anyone directed the intelligence community to focus on Trump associates. And whether any laws and regulations and procedures were violated.





When Nunes left Capitol Hill for the White House that afternoon, everything changed. He’d just begun to scratch the surface of a scandal that would split the country. The media attacks on him started immediately.


“Why are Republicans trusting Devin Nunes to be their oracle of truth?” asked MSNBC analyst Elise Jordan. “A former dairy farmer who House Intel staffers refer to as ‘Secret Agent Man,’ because he has no idea what’s going on.”


Roll Call’s David Hawkings dismissed him as a rube: “The match between his backstory and his prominence seems wholly incongruous, and helps underscore the perception that Nunes is cavalierly playing at a very high-stakes game while in way over his head.”


The “resistance” eventually targeted his family as well, with political operatives paid millions of dollars to destroy him. Nunes was no longer just a public figure, the representative from California’s Twenty-second Congressional District. He’d become, as Theodore Roosevelt put it, “a man who is actually in the arena, whose face is marred by dust and sweat and blood.”






[image: image]








Crawdaddy’s is a large restaurant with a big horseshoe-shaped bar and live music at the end of Main Street in Visalia, California. Two years after Nunes’s journey began, I’m there with him and a group of his friends—Ray Appleton, a radio talk show host, and the Kapetan brothers—listening to the house band.


The lead singer, in a dark bob haircut, go-go boots, and a miniskirt, is belting out covers. The band’s led by another of the congressman’s buddies, the restaurant’s owner, Keith Korsgaden, on guitar. They’re good, say Nunes’s friends, all musicians.


During a pause in the music, a man with a graying beard in a black turtleneck walks up to the stage, has a quick word with the band, then turns to the audience. “This next one,” he says into the mike, pointing at Nunes, “is for you.” Nunes looks up from his plate and freezes. Was this another protestor, part of the camp that regularly denounces him at protests staged outside his local offices?


Keith rips into the first few licks of “Jumpin’ Jack Flash,” and the singer tips his driving cap toward Nunes. “I was born,” he sings, “in a crossfire hurricane.”


A surprised smile passes across Nunes’s face, and he nods back. The crowd erupts in cheers.


“Crossfire Hurricane” is the name that the FBI gave to the investigation it opened on the Trump campaign. The probe was named not after the Stones’ 1968 classic but rather the 1986 Penny Marshall film Jumpin’ Jack Flash.


In the late-Cold-War-era comedy, a quirky bank officer played by Whoopi Goldberg comes to the aid of Jonathan Pryce, who plays a British spy being chased by the KGB.


The FBI’s code name alludes to the former British spy whose allegedly Russian-sourced reports documented the Trump team’s supposed ties to the Kremlin, ex–MI6 agent Christopher Steele.


Hired by Clinton campaign operatives to smear Trump, Steele is credited with authoring a thirty-five-page collection of memos, the “Steele Dossier,” that the FBI used to obtain a Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act (FISA) warrant to spy on Trump and his associates. Informants were also sent to spy on and entrap the Trump team.


The dirty tricks operation turned into an attempted coup after Trump’s election. Since he was elected without the consensus of the ruling party representing the coastal elite, Barack Obama’s intelligence chiefs, including CIA director John Brennan, FBI director James Comey, and FBI deputy director Andrew McCabe, as well as Director of National Intelligence James Clapper, believed that his election was illegitimate. It was permissible, they believed, to remove him from office.


They’d justify it by continuing the FBI’s investigation and expanding on the Clinton campaign’s dirty tricks operation contending that Trump was controlled by a foreign power, Russia.


Brennan initiated the coup with an official report produced by his handpicked team of analysts. Their January 2017 intelligence community assessment claimed that Russian president Vladimir Putin himself had interfered with the election to help Trump win.


Comey’s March 2017 congressional testimony set up the president for a series of traps intended to bring obstruction charges leading to Trump’s ouster. After Comey’s dismissal in May 2017, Mueller was named special counsel and inherited control of the FBI’s investigation and therefore the coup. His job was to fulfill Comey’s mission and continue the investigation until he could trap the president in an obstruction of justice charge.


The crowd at Crawdaddy’s understood that for two years, Nunes had been the only thing standing in the way of the coup called “Crossfire Hurricane.”
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It’s early spring in Tulare, California, Nunes’s hometown. The snowcapped peaks of the Sierra Nevada will soon melt and fill the Central Valley with the water that makes it the world’s most fertile agricultural region. “It’s the breadbasket of the solar system,” Nunes says, smiling.


We’re driving by what used to be the Tagus Ranch, the 7,000-acre fruit farm that was the destination for thousands of migrants who fled the midwestern dust bowl for California in the 1930s. Much of John Steinbeck’s The Grapes of Wrath was set around Tulare. Nunes’s ancestors preceded the Oklahomans by decades, but even today some of his family members speak with that same drawl.


The Nunes family is originally from the Azores, an autonomous region of Portugal consisting of a chain of islands 850 miles west of the Iberian Peninsula. “It’s a beautiful place but also a tough place to live,” says Nunes. “You never starve, but you never have a lot either.”


In the late nineteenth century, his ancestors left their small farms in the Azores for small farms in the San Joaquin Valley and helped settle the land. “The Azoreans are tough people,” says Nunes. “They have to be—living in the middle of the Atlantic, they’re isolated and know they have to count on themselves.”


The Nunes family was poor but always made it through, even through the depression. “My ninety-nine-year-old grandmother will tell you they had everything they needed,” says Nunes. “They had a small farm, and they were growing what they needed, and they survived.”


Nunes was born in Tulare on October 1, 1973, and grew up on the family farm. He attended Tulare Union High School, earned an associate degree at College of the Sequoias, then his bachelor’s and master’s degrees in agriculture at Cal Poly, San Louis Obispo, about a two-hour drive southwest from Tulare.


The congressman has the self-deprecating humor of a Jimmy Stewart character. Tall at six feet, one inch, a family man, and slow to anger, Nunes is relentless in pursuit. “I raised cattle as a teenager,” he says. “My father broke away from the family farm and started his own business—he was a sharecropper. My mother kept the books. He encouraged us to get out on my own, so my brother, Anthony, and I started a harvesting business. I bought my own farm and tended row crops while I was still working on the family’s farm.”


He later sold the farm and used the profits to invest in Alpha Omega, a maker of world-class wines in Napa Valley.


In 2001, President George W. Bush appointed him California state director of the United States Department of Agriculture’s Rural Development section. He was first elected to the House of Representatives in 2002, promising to take on environmentalists who wanted to divert water into the ocean and choke the soil.


Chance rules farm life. Contingency drives the luckless off the land and shapes the stalwart. Farmers are hard not by nature but to weather the nature that determines their fate. If it rains, your crops grow; if it rains too much, they rot; if it doesn’t rain, you starve. It is a career of black and white; things are, or they are not.


Nunes says that sensibility shaped his understanding and actions during the last two years. The collusion narrative was nonsense, cover for something else that was going on. He read the terrain quickly.


What he had to learn along the way was how to manage a team in the midst of a crisis like no one had seen before—a coup against a US president.


Nunes assembled a number of distinct and complementary talents: former intelligence officials who knew how to find and identify evidence of corruption; lawyers deeply knowledgeable about esoteric congressional procedures; experts on the history of intelligence; a former DOJ national security prosecutor, Kash Patel, who knew the nature of the enemy—his former colleagues; his communications director, Jack Langer, who went on offense against the hostile press corps; and the late Damon Nelson, the HPSCI staff director, who kept the team together during its hardest times. They called their wide-ranging investigation of the myriad abuses and crimes committed by senior US officials “Objective Medusa.”


For nearly two years, Nunes’s team pulled at the threads of the operation and found widespread corruption at the top levels of the federal government. They had to press forward carefully to hold the ground they’d won. The rogue law enforcement and intelligence officials, Clinton operatives, Obama aides, and the press were waiting for them to make a mistake.


“Every time we took a shot,” says Nunes, “we had to hit them between the eyes.”


The Objective Medusa team rarely missed.


They discovered in October 2017 that the Steele Dossier had been funded by the Clinton campaign. A February 2018 report known as the “Nunes Memo” laid out how the dossier had been used as evidence to obtain the FISA.


The Objective Medusa team discovered the role played by DOJ official Bruce Ohr and his wife, Nellie, in pushing the anti-Trump operation.


Objective Medusa uncovered the role State Department officials played in the anti-Trump operation.


Nunes’s team won release of the text messages between FBI agent Peter Strzok and his mistress, FBI lawyer Lisa Page, that gave evidence of the extent and nature of the anti-Trump operation. They found that Strzok’s “insurance policy” text referred to something specific the FBI had done to obtain the spy warrant.


Objective Medusa investigators pushed to find out how many spies the intelligence community had sent after the Trump campaign.


They set up a congressional task force to widen the investigation into the corrupt FBI investigators who had tried to frame Trump.


Finally, they asked the president to declassify federal law enforcement documents giving further evidence of Deep State corruption.


In giving their full accounting of the abuses and crimes committed during the FBI’s investigation of Trump, Nunes and his team returned the House Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence (HPSCI) to its origins: investigating the abuses and possible crimes committed by American spies.


“The committee started in 1977,” says Nunes’s communications director, Jack Langer. “The House of Representatives passed a resolution to set up a committee monitoring the intelligence community in the wake of widespread abuses. The CIA, FBI, NSA, and others were spying on Americans.”


In 1975, two congressional investigatory panels were tasked to look into allegations of intelligence community (IC) abuses: the Church Committee, led by Senator Frank Church of Idaho, and the Pike Committee, chaired by Representative Otis Pike of New York. The two panels established permanent committees in both houses that would be responsible for constitutional oversight of the US intelligence community: the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence and HPSCI.


“It was a pretty quiet committee before the 2016 elections,” says Langer. Much of HPSCI’s work involves authorizing spending for the intelligence community and providing it with necessary support and assistance. “The public wasn’t really following what we do, and if the press had questions for us, we usually couldn’t comment, since most of our work is classified.”


Nunes and his Democratic counterpart on the committee, Adam Schiff, worked well together the last two years of the Obama administration. As late as 2016, the two said good things about each other on the House floor. That changed when Trump was elected and Schiff lost his bearings.


Nunes’s March 2017 trip to tell the White House he’d seen evidence of spying on the Trump team was the opening move in a protracted struggle to bring the truth to light.


I’ve asked Nunes several times if he ever thought of walking away and just leaving the whole thing alone for someone else to deal with. “No,” he says. “Never. Not once. I knew the more times they came after me, the more they hit me, I knew that I was right over the target.”


Lots of people know they’re right, but not everyone is willing to pay the price for it.


“What happens if you don’t do the right thing?” says Nunes. “I wasn’t raised that way. How do you look yourself in the mirror? How do you explain to yourself five, ten years down the road that you could have done something but you didn’t?”


This book is an effort to present the known, as well as previously unreported, details in the anti-Trump operation. The basic outline of the story, however, is shockingly simple. Hillary Clinton’s campaign used political operatives and dirty cops to frame her opponent. When she lost, Obama officials employed the resources of the federal government to try to topple President Trump.


What readers may find surprising in this account is the extent of the role of the press. The media weren’t simply partisan or lazy or complicit—they have been an integral component of both legs of the operation from the beginning until the present. All in all, it is a tragic story about criminality, corruption, and a conspiracy of lies at the highest levels of important US institutions that were designed to keep the public safe, such as the FBI, and free, such as the press. But there is another story running parallel to that account, and that is a story about a small handful of Americans, public servants, who stood up, assumed responsibility, and did the right thing at a crucial time.


“If it weren’t for eight people,” Patel tells me over a beer one snowy evening in Washington, “no one would know what happened.”


The Objective Medusa team was outgunned by a confederation with unlimited financial resources and far superior numbers: the national security bureaucracy, political operatives, and the majority of the press. Still, they brought the truth to light. This story credits them for their actions and courage and, I hope, may give some readers cause for optimism in what looks like a dark moment in our history and even inspire others.


To tell that story, for nearly two years I spoke with Nunes, Patel, Langer, and other Objective Medusa investigators who could not speak on the record. What they accomplished together speaks for all of them: they uncovered the biggest political scandal in American history.















Chapter 2



ENEMIES OF THE STATE


DEVIN NUNES and Kash Patel dispute the FBI’s claims that the Trump investigation began on July 31, 2016. “We actually think it began in late 2015, early 2016,” says Nunes.


It’s winter 2019, and I’m sitting in a sushi restaurant in downtown Washington with the congressman and Kashyap “Kash” Patel, the former DOJ prosecutor who led much of the House Intelligence Committee’s investigation of the FBI’s handling of the Trump-Russia probe.


An athletically built thirty-nine-year-old with a dark, close-cropped beard, Patel was born to Indian parents who had moved from Africa, Uganda, and Tanzania, to Jackson Heights, Queens, a New York City melting pot of Indian, Asian, Latin American, and African immigrants. After graduating from the University of Richmond, he went to law school in New York. He moved to Miami and became a public defender before taking a job in Washington.


“I was a terrorism prosecutor at Main Justice,” says Patel, referring to DOJ headquarters. “It was a great place, a dream job, going after bad guys with great colleagues. Running those counterterrorism operations gave me a profound respect and love for the department and the FBI.”


During his time at DOJ, Patel also served as a civilian in the military at Joint Special Operations Command (JSOC). “I worked alongside our Tier 1 special forces community conducting global targeting operations,” he says. “It was one of the greatest honors of my career.”


At Main Justice, he worked with many of the same people he would come to investigate as part of Nunes’s team. After spending nearly two years investigating the origins of the Russia collusion investigation, Patel agrees that the anti-Trump operation began in winter 2015–2016.


“January 2016,” says Patel, “is when Glenn Simpson, Christopher Steele, and Bruce Ohr start speaking together about a bunch of things they’re up to.” Their business concerns were related to Russia and Trump.


Simpson, a former Wall Street Journal reporter and founder of the opposition research firm Fusion GPS, Steele, a former British intelligence officer, and Ohr, a senior Justice Department official, are central figures in the anti-Trump operation. They’d known each other for years, sometimes working together. Simpson met Steele in 2009, shortly after they separately started private research firms. Steele and Ohr met in 2007. Simpson and Ohr first met around 2010 at networking events. In the early winter of 2016, their career paths intersected again as they engaged in an email correspondence regarding a number of Russia-related business concerns.


After ending his government career on the Russia desk in London, Steele picked up a number of Russia-related jobs in the British capital, home of a large Russian diaspora. He was hired, for instance, to lobby on behalf of Oleg Deripaska, a Russian government–linked aluminum magnate. Deripaska’s US visa had been withdrawn years before due to his alleged ties to organized crime. In January 2016, Steele notified Ohr that the situation seemed close to resolution and asked him to monitor developments. Ohr told him he’d “keep an eye on it.”


That Steele, the author of the reports alleging Trump’s ties to the Kremlin, was himself lobbying a DOJ official on behalf of a Putin-allied oligarch was peculiar enough. The early 2016 manifestation of the anti-Trump plot’s central network of Steele, Ohr, and Simpson shows that the operation was seeded long before the FBI says it initiated the Trump-Russia collusion investigation.


Indeed, Simpson had hired Ohr’s wife, Nellie, in October 2015 to compile research on Trump, his family, his aides, and their business ties to Russian and other former Eastern Bloc individuals and institutions.


That was only part of the Ohrs’ role in the operation. Along with Steele, the husband-and-wife team was a conduit for information passed between Fusion GPS and the small FBI team that managed the Crossfire Hurricane investigation. The Crossfire Hurricane group consisted of a handful of FBI officials at Washington, DC, headquarters, most notably deputy director Andrew McCabe, deputy assistant director for counterintelligence Peter Strzok, and Lisa Page, McCabe’s special counsel.


The claim made by Justice Department and FBI officials that the investigation into four Trump team officials—Carter Page, George Papadopoulos, Paul Manafort, Jr., and Michael Flynn—was opened by the end of July 2016 was purposefully misleading. US law enforcement authorities constructed a false chronology of the investigation in order to obscure their wrongdoing and rationalize withholding documents from Congress.


“The FBI wanted to erect barriers to protect themselves,” says Patel. “So they say the investigation began on July 31. That’s wrong. It’s just the FBI saying that date is a big deal, so we’ll give you all the documents we have after that date and we don’t have anything before that date because there was no investigation. But it’s an arbitrary date, and it doesn’t mean that nothing happened before then.”


Nunes and Patel explain that an investigation doesn’t just appear out of thin air; it needs a long runway. “There are levels of authorizations that you need in order to get a counterintelligence investigation off the ground,” says Patel. “We said there’s stuff before July 31, and FBI said ‘No, no, there’s nothing.’ And then we found a couple of things. Like Ohr and Simpson and Steele talking and texting in January 2016.”


There’s more evidence suggesting that the Crossfire Hurricane team started looking into Trump officials by early 2016. In addition to the Steele-Simpson-Ohr correspondence, there’s Michael Flynn.
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Lieutenant General Michael Flynn was regarded as the top military intelligence officer of his generation. He revolutionized the nature of intelligence collection in battlefield settings by circumventing the intelligence bureaucracy. His work in Iraq helped defeat Al Qaeda during the 2007 surge.


Flynn’s seminal 2010 article “Fixing Intel: A Blueprint for Making Intelligence Relevant in Afghanistan” put the US intelligence community on notice. The essential problem, he argued, was the Beltway bureaucracy, through which information might circulate for days or weeks before it came back to the field.


“Moving up through levels of hierarchy,” he wrote, “is normally a journey into greater degrees of cluelessness.”


Flynn was speaking for the collector in the field, often a soldier, who needed actionable intelligence on the spot. Success in battle, and keeping Americans safe, required minimizing the role of the bureaucracy. He wanted to apply the lessons he had learned in combat settings across the intelligence community. Thus his proposed revolution threatened the budgets, jobs, and prestige of thousands of spies who constituted the intelligence bureaucracy.


They noticed. By the time the three-star general was named head of the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) in 2012, the bureaucracy saw him as an enemy. He’d also alienated the Obama White House.


Flynn repeatedly challenged Obama’s policies. In particular, he was skeptical of the administration’s key foreign policy initiative, the nuclear deal with Iran. The Islamic Republic had been directly responsible for killing thousands of Americans in Iraq and indirectly responsible for many more. The documents captured during the raid on Osama bin Laden’s compound in Pakistan showed evidence of Iran’s relationship with Al Qaeda. Flynn pushed for release of the bin Laden documents, and the White House was furious. Publishing them would complicate Obama’s ability to convince Congress of the wisdom in striking a nuclear deal with a terror state devoted to murdering Americans.


“Flynn was in a knife fight with the White House,” says Derek Harvey, a retired army intelligence officer who works with Nunes and knows the former DIA head.


Flynn announced his resignation from DIA in April 2014 and started a consulting firm that worked with foreign clients. He did media appearances and advised several GOP candidates for the 2016 nomination: Ben Carson, Ted Cruz, Carly Fiorina, and Scott Walker, as well as Trump. He told reporters he’d moved into public life because he thought the country was at risk. He told friends he saw the Clintons and their corruption as a threat to the republic. He was willing to talk to anyone if it would help keep Hillary Clinton out of the White House.


But it was Trump who fit Flynn best. The candidate who promised to drain “the Swamp” was the only real vehicle for Flynn’s campaign against the intelligence bureaucracy. Unless that bureaucracy was shorn of power, it would continue to risk the lives of more Americans, especially those in uniform.


Trump in turn trusted the former spy chief. He had detailed knowledge of the Beltway establishment because he’d fought it—just as important, the Swamp saw Flynn, as it did Trump, as an enemy. But both underestimated the establishment’s will to power and the many weapons in its array.


For the intelligence bureaucracy, the situation became increasingly urgent as 2015 was coming to a close and Flynn was drawing closer to a GOP front-runner who promised to upend the system.


In December, Flynn’s Beltway adversaries saw an opportunity—an event and a photograph capturing a moment of it. The operatives targeting Flynn must have seen its potential value immediately. It was a picture of the former DIA chief sitting next to Vladimir Putin. The Russian president is in suit and tie and Flynn is in a tuxedo, evidence that he’s not working but celebrating with Putin. They’re seated at the table of honor at a Moscow banquet commemorating the tenth anniversary of the Russian government–owned news network, Russia Today, now RT.


Flynn’s speakers’ bureau had arranged the trip and paid him to deliver a speech at the banquet. He had been given a defensive briefing by intelligence officials before he left and debriefed his former colleagues on his return. Flynn said that he had used the occasion to advise the Russians to bring their ally Iran into line, to stop wreaking havoc across the Middle East. But those details were erased in most subsequent press reports. To paint Flynn, and by extension Trump, as Russian assets, the former spy chief’s Beltway adversaries used techniques famously employed by Moscow’s spy services.


Josef Stalin’s spies understood that photographs are useful instruments in pushing propaganda. A picture tells a story. Frame it correctly, and the caption writes itself. To change the story, Soviet propagandists changed the picture. Stalin, for instance, had his rivals erased from photographs. Former colleagues and friends became enemies of the state, vanished down the memory hole. Similarly, details of Flynn’s visit to Moscow for the RT banquet were “disappeared.” The true account was replaced with a false narrative. In this telling, Flynn wasn’t just sitting close to Putin, as the photograph showed, he was actually close to Putin—much more than anyone knew.


The operatives targeting Flynn needed to assemble a backstory to explain how the former US general had come to sit near the Russian president. They drew on data points scattered throughout Flynn’s past.
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In February 2014, Sir Richard Dearlove, a former director of the United Kingdom’s foreign spy agency, MI6, hosted a dinner for Flynn in his campus apartment at Pembroke College. The dinner was to celebrate a joint initiative between the DIA and the Cambridge Security Initiative (CSI). CSI was a private intelligence firm directed by Dearlove, Christopher Andrew, the official historian of Great Britain’s domestic intelligence service, MI5, and Stefan Halper, a US political operative with family ties to the Central Intelligence Agency. Their idea was to draw on their past reputations and market the in-house talents of Cambridge specialists, including Svetlana Lokhova, a Moscow-born British historian of Soviet intelligence. She is precise in relating the details of Flynn’s 2014 visit.


“Flynn gave a public talk, and then there was a dinner by private invitation only to honor him,” she says. “It was big event to celebrate Flynn. The organizers wanted to show off for the DIA boss and prove how knowledgeable the group was.”


But CSI’s analysts had no experience in intelligence work. They were academics, graduate students. “I was invited to the dinner because CSI had been contracted to do a project that involved the Middle East and Russia and I was one of two Russian speakers involved in CSI,” says Lokhova.


There were twenty or so guests, mostly academics. Dearlove was seated across from the guest of honor. Andrew, a University of Cambridge professor, sat next to Flynn. The third CSI director, Halper, was absent. At the end of the dinner, Andrew asked Lokhova to show their American guest an example of what she’d found during her research studying the Soviet archives.


“I opened my iPad,” says Lokhova, “and showed Flynn a sample of Stalin’s handwriting on the back of a postcard.”


Flynn wanted a copy of it to show to a delegation of Russian military intelligence officers due to visit DIA the next month. The trip was canceled because of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine.


Andrew asked Lokhova to stay in touch with Flynn. He hoped that Flynn might visit Cambridge again. He didn’t, but the 2014 dinner would become an important chapter in the story designed to destroy him.
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The University of Cambridge is one of the world’s oldest and most prestigious universities, the centerpiece of a medieval English city less than an hour from London by train. From the station, it’s a fifteen-minute walk to Market Square, dodging students rushing to class on their bikes.


It was winter 2019 when I visited Cambridge, cool and gray, and the grassy courtyards of the residential colleges were wet with frost.


The university enjoys a uniquely storied reputation as a breeding ground for spies. The Elizabethan playwright Christopher Marlowe, a rival of William Shakespeare, was recruited here as a student to serve Her Majesty’s government.


Nearly four hundred years later, five of the university’s students, most notoriously Kim Philby, first enlisted at Cambridge in a cause, communism, intended to destroy their society and committed themselves to careers in espionage on behalf of the Soviet Union.


And it was here in the mid-1980s that one of Dearlove’s future employees, undergraduate Christopher Steele, was tapped to play a role fighting the Cold War.


Lokhova escaped post–Cold War Russia by moving to England in 1998. “There were breadlines and the violence was so bad that boys in my school brought guns to class,” she says of mid-1990s Moscow. I can hear traces of her Russian accent. She speaks hurriedly, as her two-year-old wants her mother’s full attention.


“When I arrived here,” she says, “I did everything possible to integrate myself into British society and distance myself from that. I celebrated when I became a British citizen.”


In 2012, after a career in London’s financial sector in the mid-2000s, she returned to academia, where she’d already started to make a name for herself. Her book, The Spy Who Changed History: The Untold Story of How the Soviet Union Won the Race for America’s Top Secrets, is based on documents drawn from the Soviet archives dating back to the 1930s.


She thrived at Cambridge, cherishing the painstaking research. “Documents have a story in them,” she says. “If you spend time with them, they’ll start to speak to you.” So do timelines, she says. Her research of the culture and methods of Soviet spy agencies prepared her for how to understand the story that US intelligence officials, political operatives, and the media used to smear her in order to get at Flynn.


They concocted a false account of the 2014 dinner, claiming she was a Russian spy and had compromised the DIA director. She became notorious as images of her strawberry blond hair and blue eyes were splashed across the media on both sides of the Atlantic. But that fraudulent narrative of the 2014 dinner wasn’t planted in the press until several years later, in the winter of 2016–2017. It was only when Trump was ascendant that the fictional account became useful, an account that dirtied Flynn and by extension Trump. Lokhova, a Russian and a woman, was a convenient instrument. No one blinked when her former Cambridge colleagues threw her to the wolves. Nonetheless, she still speaks sympathetically of the Cambridge group. “They’re people who had done something in the past. They wanted to be treated with respect and feel they should be consulted because of their service to the world. But they’re men in their midseventies who tend to get drowsy while listening to lectures.”


The American, said Lokhova, was unlike Dearlove and Andrew. “Most of these Cambridge people are very gentle,” she explains. “Halper stood out because he was incredibly rude. Also, he regularly made a point of making anti-Russian comments.”


Halper was another central figure in the anti-Trump operation. It was he who told the US and British press that Flynn had been compromised by Russian intelligence and that the agent of Flynn’s undoing had been Lokhova.
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Stefan Halper graduated from Stanford in 1967 and earned a PhD from Oxford in 1971. He worked for three Republican administrations—Richard Nixon’s, Gerald Ford’s, and Ronald Reagan’s—and was once married to the daughter of the CIA’s director of intelligence Ray Cline. Halper’s family ties to the agency won him a leadership position in a dirty tricks operation targeting a presidential campaign.


Halper ran a campaign war room for Reagan’s 1980 presidential run. He was hired by David Gergen, a prominent former Republican official and current CNN political analyst, to manage a network of retired CIA officers. Halper’s job was to collect foreign policy information from inside the Jimmy Carter administration.


Carter, a famously unpopular president, enjoyed two brief surges in the run-up to the 1980 elections. The first time was when Iranian revolutionaries seized American hostages in November 1979 and took over the US Embassy in Tehran. The public sided with Carter again in April 1980, when he ordered an ultimately unsuccessful mission to rescue the hostages.


Reagan’s CIA director, William Casey, and Reagan’s campaign director said that the Republican candidate’s team had been concerned that Carter might take some sort of dramatic action to free the hostages on the eve of the election and overtake Reagan at the polls. The Reagan camp referred to it as an “October surprise.” Halper’s job was reportedly to spot plans for an “October surprise” in time to develop a campaign strategy to counter it.


Halper is a well-known figure in the Washington, DC, policy community and the author of several relatively popular books on foreign affairs. He earned another doctorate from Cambridge in 2004. He stayed on to teach at Cambridge, where he directed dissertations in the Department of Politics and International Studies and convened conferences and panels with important figures from the intelligence world. For instance, he brought a former head of Russia’s foreign intelligence service, Vyacheslav Trubnikov, to Cambridge twice, in 2012 and 2015.


On campus, Halper was known to be generous with his money. Part of his wealth came from the US taxpayer. In addition to CSI’s contract with the DIA, he drew income from the Office of Net Assessment (ONA), an internal Pentagon think tank, to write research reports on strategic threats facing the United States. Between 2012 and 2018, ONA paid him more than $1 million—$600,000 alone for two contracts in 2015 and 2016 for academic research related to Russia. He claimed that one of the sources for his reports on Russia had been the former spy chief Trubnikov.


Halper’s work, says a Defense Department official who requested anonymity, “didn’t meet the standards of the Office of Net Assessment or merit the money he was paid. Halper’s work typically consisted of a collection of essays he’d paid other researchers to write. These were hardly the top names in the field, and the work was substandard.”


According to the Washington Times, Halper’s research claims were falsified. More than a dozen of the expert sources Halper claimed to have consulted for his projects said they had had nothing to do with his work.


It appears Halper misrepresented the nature of his professional relationship with a number of well-known academics and intelligence officials, including former CIA director General Michael Hayden. Washington Times reporter Rowan Scarborough asked Hayden if he had contributed to Halper’s work as the contractor claimed. Hayden responded, “No memory of project or person.”


Pentagon whistle-blower Adam Lovinger contended that ONA was being used to funnel money to favored Beltway insiders such as Halper. In addition, according to records submitted to Congress, Lovinger reported to ONA director Andrew D. May that Halper, a contractor, was being used to “conduct foreign relations,” a violation of federal regulations. Instead of investigating Halper, Lovinger’s supervisors investigated him.


It appears that Halper was paid not for his research but rather for pet projects that were best kept off the books. The FBI’s Crossfire Hurricane team used Halper as an informant to spy on Trump campaign advisers, including Flynn.
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The Cambridge scholars who’d met Flynn in 2014 kept track of him after he announced his resignation from the DIA. They noticed when, more than a year later, his name started to appear in the press as an adviser to the Republican front-runner, Donald Trump.


“It seemed odd,” says Lokhova. “He’d crossed sides, from Obama official to Trump supporter.”


That got Halper’s attention as well. Flynn was whispering things in Trump’s ear that threatened the ecosystem that sustained Halper and his Beltway associates. It didn’t matter that Trump’s chances of winning the White House were slim. The logic of power dictates that the powerful use the instruments at their disposal in order to maintain power.


Richard Nixon had the Democratic National Committee wiretapped because he could. The fact that he was destined to crush his Democratic opponent, George McGovern, in the 1972 election was irrelevant. It was because he had the power to spy on his rivals that he did.


Halper was such an instrument. His job was to push favorites across the winning line, just as he’d helped ensure Reagan’s victory over Carter more than thirty-five years before.


Nearly two years after the February 2014 dinner that he didn’t attend, Halper saw how a report of it might be useful: it could serve as the backstory for the photograph of Flynn at Putin’s table. A few short weeks after the RT celebration, Halper directed Christopher Andrew to host him for a dinner and invite Lokhova. “Chris emailed me in January 2016 and insisted I come to dinner with Halper the next month,” says Lokhova. “I’d never spoken with him. It was very strange I’d be invited to a dinner with him. But Chris was insistent.”


She didn’t understand why until later. Halper was running an operation to dirty Trump and several associates as Russian assets. “I was being set up,” she says. A Cambridge colleague and friend of Halper later confirmed to her that Halper had been spying on her to get to Flynn.


Halper wanted to probe her to get information on Flynn that he could leak to the press and deliver to his associates in the intelligence bureaucracy. He was looking for material with which to write the false backstory of the Flynn-Putin photograph.


How did the former DIA chief wind up at Putin’s table in December 2015 to celebrate a Kremlin-owned TV station? He’d been compromised by the Russians back in February 2014, Halper would eventually tell journalists. In his account, which finally surfaced in December 2016, the postcard with Stalin’s signature had been an erotic come-on from Lokhova, the prelude to a seduction. They had left the dinner together. She was a Russian agent.


The premise of that story, says Lokhova, is ridiculous. “Richard Dearlove, the former head of MI6, hosted the dinner, in his apartment,” she says. “It has obviously been cleared with the intelligence services. They’re not going to let someone they haven’t checked out dine at the home of the former head of the foreign intelligence service while he’s hosting the active chief of American military intelligence.”


Nonetheless, Halper’s account became part of the narrative that Flynn had been compromised by the Russians.


“On this telling,” says Lokhova, “at the end of the evening I supposedly walk off alone with Flynn for some rendezvous, and no one says a thing—not his security detail, not the former head of MI6. Instead, everyone just finishes their port and cheese without saying a thing.”


Lokhova declined the February 2016 invitation to meet with Halper at Andrew’s home, but the anti-Flynn operation launched nonetheless. A February 26, 2016, Reuters article by Mark Hosenball and Steve Holland was the first public evidence of it.


Trump adviser Michael Flynn, according to the article, “raised eyebrows among some U.S. foreign policy veterans when he was pictured sitting at the head table with Putin at a banquet in Moscow late last year celebrating Russia Today, an international broadcasting network funded by the Russian government.”


Political operatives turned Flynn into an enemy of the state by erasing facts from the real account of his Moscow trip and the RT banquet. And the photograph of him seated with Putin became the first piece of falsified evidence in the dirty tricks campaign alleging that the Trump team had been compromised by the Kremlin.















Chapter 3



FRAMING TRUMP: THE RUSSIA JOB


IN EARLY SPRING 2016, the press began to fill with stories expressing alarm about Trump’s often favorable opinions regarding Vladimir Putin. That was odd. The media had never concerned itself with the sitting president’s Russia policy, no matter how many US interests and allies were damaged because of it.


To the contrary, the press had fully backed Obama’s efforts to improve ties with the Kremlin, the vaunted Russia “reset” policy managed by former secretary of state Hillary Clinton.


Obama and Clinton’s “reset” amounted to turning a blind eye to Putin’s aggressions—Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, annexation of Crimea, cyberattacks against the United States’ Baltic allies, military intervention in Syria, where it had established air bases, and a naval base on the Mediterranean.


All that time, the press had failed to note the dangers of Obama’s Russia policy, even as Putin participated in a genocidal campaign in support of his Syrian client Bashar al-Assad. Obama appeased Russia by withdrawing missile defense from the United States’ central European allies Poland and the Czech Republic. The US president even ignored Russian cyberattacks on the Pentagon in 2015 and State Department in 2014.


Nunes, watching from his perch on the House Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence, believed that the Obama White House was letting Putin get away with murder.


We’re sitting at a long table in Nunes’s office in the Longworth House Office Building on Capitol Hill. The jerseys of two Portuguese soccer legends, Luís Figo and Rui Costa, hang on the wall behind him, and a large TV is at the other end of the room. Pictures of his family, his wife, Elizabeth, and his three daughters, Evelyn, Julia, and Margaret, fill the bookcases. It’s a seven- to eight-hour trip to get home for the weekends, and often he’s traveling far abroad for committee work.


In the summer of 2014, he’d just returned from a trip to Ukraine, where the Russians had downed a passenger jet. He wrote an op-ed for the Washington Times warning about Russian aggression—drawing particular attention to the Kremlin’s international disinformation campaign—and advocating active steps to counter Putin’s actions. “We cannot afford to be a mere bystander as his destabilizing actions begin to threaten the economies of the Baltics and other NATO allies, possibly including our own.”


When Nunes became HPSCI chairman in 2015, he set out to address the problem. “The committee got the intelligence community more money for Russia,” he says. “Millions. But they didn’t use it.”


They didn’t want the money because Russia wasn’t an Obama priority. “There are plenty of people in the intelligence community who know lots about Russia,” he explains. “But the IC takes direction from the administration. And the Obama White House wasn’t interested in focusing on Russia because it needed Moscow on board for the Iran deal.”


The administration believed that Russian support for sanctions designed to bring the Iranians to the negotiating table was vital to striking the deal. Thus Obama showed early on his willingness to accommodate the Russians on other matters.


During a July 2009 trip to Moscow, Obama gave a speech at the New Economic School, where he spoke of a sixty-day review for a proposed US missile defense shield protecting Poland and the Czech Republic. The Russians strongly opposed the shield, a George W. Bush–era initiative, believing that it targeted their nuclear arsenal.


In September, Obama scrapped the program, much to the dismay of Warsaw and Prague, as well as the foreign policy establishment.


When Obama was caught on an open microphone in spring 2012 telling outgoing Russian president Dmitri Medvedev that after his election he would “have more flexibility” in dealing with issues such as missile defense, it lent further evidence to the case that he was appeasing Moscow.


That’s how Trump saw it. He was critical of Obama’s Russia policy even before he announced his candidacy. Trump said that Mitt Romney had been right to say that Moscow represented a geostrategic threat to US interests. Trump was in favor of sanctioning Russia for invading Ukraine.


“There are a lot of things we could be doing economically to Russia,” Trump told a TV interviewer in 2014. “Russia is not strong economically, and we could do a lot of different things to really do numbers on them if we wanted to.”


But Trump also wanted good relations with Moscow. There was nothing incongruous about holding the two ideas at the same time. It had been the mainstream bipartisan position since the end of the Cold War: harsh criticism and hope for friendly relations. Starting with George H. W. Bush, every US president, Democratic and Republican, sought to get off on a good footing with Russia. And since George W. Bush’s first term that had meant trying to get along with Putin.


But Trump’s pedigree was unorthodox—he wasn’t a politician—so his style was, too. From Trump’s perspective, with him as president, Putin would be dealing with a US leader who had a source of wealth and prestige independent of his office, a business leader who had holdings around the world. In Trump’s view, Putin would be dealing with someone even more famous than he was.


To hear Trump tell it, he already had the Russian strongman’s respect. Putin, he boasted, had sent him a present during the 2013 Miss Universe contest in Moscow. In contrast, said Trump, Putin “has zero respect for Obama or the US.” He argued that the foreign policy elite, Democratic and Republican, had repeatedly shown its incompetence over the last two decades in the form of endless wars and bad deals.


The Bush administration had been responsible for the war in Iraq and the never-ending battle to win in Afghanistan. The Obama White House had concluded the nuclear agreement with Iran—a catastrophe, Trump said on the campaign trail, the worst deal ever made. As for Putin, said Trump, he’s “eaten Obama’s lunch, therefore our lunch, for a long period of time.”
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Trump, like most of the foreign policy community, misread Obama in one important respect: Obama’s dealings with Russia were not entirely a result of his weakness. In fact, Obama believed he was dealing from a position of strength. He used Russia as an instrument to secure the foreign policy goal he most cared about: the nuclear deal with Tehran.


The testing ground was the Syrian war, where Iran and Russia had teamed up in support of their client Bashar al-Assad. The United States’ allies in the region implored Obama to arm Syrian rebel factions to defeat Assad and weaken Iran—which was precisely what Obama sought to avoid.


He knew that the nuclear deal would be off the table if he targeted the Syrian regime. Accordingly, he saw Moscow as a partner rather than an adversary.


In late summer 2013, Putin showed he was willing to team up with Obama, so long as it advanced Russian interests. Months before, Assad had deployed chemical weapons, crossing a red line set down by Obama. If Obama enforced his red line with military strikes on Assad, he risked pushing the Iranians from the negotiating table. But if he failed to act, he’d pay a steep political price for backing down.


The Russians proposed a solution: there was no need for Obama to hit Syrian regime facilities to make his point; Moscow would persuade Assad to turn over his chemical weapons arsenal. For Obama officials, it was a win-win. Putin would save his client Assad, and Obama would keep hope of the Iran deal alive. Obama aides called it a diplomatic masterstroke. In exchange for Putin’s favor, Obama turned a blind eye when the Russians escalated their troop presence in Syria in September 2015.


“The Obama administration said they were caught by surprise,” says Nunes.


That was not possible. US intelligence had seen it unfolding in real time. Moscow had been sending troops and weapons through the Bosporus, an international waterway controlled by a NATO member, Turkey.


“Of course the White House knew what was happening,” Nunes says.


For months after the Russian escalation, Nunes had been trying to get out word regarding the administration’s dangerous dance with Moscow. “I wanted to get one of the big papers to cover it,” says Nunes.


But the press had little interest in a story critical of the White House’s Russia policy. It was embarrassing to an Obama-allied media that in coordinating with Putin, the Nobel Peace Prize–winning president was complicit in the campaign of sectarian slaughter in Syria, the largest humanitarian catastrophe of the twenty-first century.


Trump would win no favors from the press.
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Trump had been the front-runner since December 2015 and, after big primary wins on March 1 and March 15, was the presumptive candidate. Nevertheless, there was already talk of a brokered convention in July, in which the establishment would fight Trump for the nomination. It seemed unlikely, but the Republican political and ideological leadership that Trump had rejected had in turn rejected him.


Early in March, a foreign policy website, War on the Rocks, published an “Open Letter on Donald Trump from GOP National Security Leaders.” Signed by 122 former Republican diplomats, intelligence officials, senior policy makers, analysts, and other foreign policy figures, the letter listed Trump’s alleged national security flaws. For example: Trump’s “admiration for foreign dictators such as Vladimir Putin is unacceptable for the leader of the world’s greatest democracy.”


The signatories vowed to oppose him. “As committed and loyal Republicans,” the letter concluded, “we are unable to support a Party ticket with Mr. Trump at its head. We commit ourselves to working energetically to prevent the election of someone so utterly unfitted to the office.”


The men and women who signed the letter were mostly serious people with a good understanding of their areas of interest, from Europe to the Middle East, from nuclear proliferation to counterterrorism. Group letters, however, are not serious. Republicans signed many during the Obama years in protest of policies they were powerless to affect.


But this early manifestation of “Never Trump” Republicanism carried real consequences. The Republican establishment’s abandonment of the candidate left the campaign with a thin foreign policy bench.


The foreign policy letter and negative media attention caused the Trump campaign serious problems. In a March 9, 2016 Washington Post column (“Why can’t Donald Trump close the deal with any foreign policy advisers?”), Daniel Drezner made a timeline of Trump’s promises to announce a foreign policy team dating back to September 2015. For six months, Drezner wrote, the GOP candidate had been promising the “finest team anyone has put together.”


That was the substance of the first question the Washington Post’s publisher, Fred Ryan, asked Trump when he sat down with him for a March 21 interview with the DC policy establishment’s hometown newspaper. He asked the GOP front-runner if he could share some names from the foreign policy team he was planning to announce later in the week.


“I wouldn’t mind,” said Trump. “Do you have that list,” he asked an aide. “I’ll be a little more accurate with it. Okay, you ready?” He sounded nervous. The journalists laughed.


There were only five foreign policy advisers on his list. Trump read them off. “Carter Page,” said Trump. George Papadopoulos was another. “Excellent guy,” said Trump. None of the journalists had heard of either one. They’d certainly never published in the Post. The editorial board, men and women with direct lines to leading US statesmen going back decades, from Henry Kissinger and George P. Shultz to Madeleine Albright and Condoleezza Rice, had no idea who Page and Papadopoulos were.


“Trump reads those names off, and that’s what puts them in Fusion GPS’ and the Obama administration’s crosshairs,” says Nunes. “Now they’re looking for anything they can get on Trump’s two new advisers.”


It wasn’t until May that Papadopoulos hit the press when he volunteered for an interview with a British newspaper. The Trump adviser said that Prime Minister David Cameron should apologize for insulting Trump and criticizing his proposal to deny US visas to nationals from certain Muslim countries. The interview touched off a firestorm in the small London community of politicians, diplomats, and intelligence officials.


But the first story on Carter Page dropped two days after Trump’s talk with the Post. Lachlan Markay of the Washington Free Beacon explored Page’s history. An energy investor who “advised Russian-state-owned energy company Gazprom,” wrote Markay, “Page has blasted NATO states’ ‘biased philosophies and draconian tactics,’ their ‘targeted discrimination and interventionist policies,’ and their ‘misguided and provocative actions.’” According to the article, “Trump’s selection of Page may indicate the reality-star-cum-politician’s opposition to U.S. policies that counter Russian interests in key global theaters.” But choosing an unknown and unpaid campaign adviser from a small pool of candidates eager to embrace Trump signaled no such thing. The campaign to tar Trump as suspiciously Kremlin friendly was under way.


In a March 31 Free Beacon article, Markay zeroed in on another Trump campaign aide. This time he reported on the connections between newly named Trump campaign convention manager Paul Manafort and a Ukrainian businessman with ties to Russian political and criminal figures. Manafort, the story asserted, was part of a web of Russia-linked Trump associates, like Page “a staunch defender of Putin’s regime and highly critical of U.S. efforts to counter Russian influence in Ukraine and the rest of Europe.” At the center of it was the candidate himself. “Trump’s praise for Russian president Vladimir Putin,” wrote Markay, “… has drawn criticism from Republican rivals and experts on U.S. policy toward Russia.”
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The Free Beacon had the Washington, DC-based firm Fusion GPS under contract to compile opposition research on Donald Trump. The publication’s major donor, hedge fund manager Paul Singer, had used the outfit previously. Singer, who supported other Republican candidates for the nomination, tasked Fusion GPS to look into Trump.


In May 2016, after it became clear that Trump had locked up the GOP nomination, the Free Beacon cut off the Trump-related research, and in January 2017 it discontinued its relationship with Fusion GPS. But by the end of March 2016, Fusion GPS had already found a different sponsor for its Trump research. Rumors circulated that Clinton supporters were funding Simpson.


According to former CIA official Robert Baer, in the March–April period there were other Clinton operatives trawling for rumors of the GOP candidate’s ties to the Kremlin.


Cody Shearer, an associate of Hillary Clinton’s private spymaster, Sidney Blumenthal, compiled two unpublished reports on Trump’s ties to Russia. Shearer wrote that Wall Street Journal reporter Alan Cullison had told him that Fusion GPS principals Glenn Simpson and Peter Fritsch had been hired by the Democratic National Committee.


Simpson and Fritsch had “uncovered info,” according to Shearer, on Trump’s newly named campaign convention manager, Paul Manafort, and his connections to Ukraine. But Simpson was already familiar with the lobbyist’s work for Ukrainian politicians. He’d written about Manafort and his relationship with former Ukrainian leader Viktor Yanukovych nearly a decade before, when he had been with the Wall Street Journal. Along with Flynn’s RT dinner, Manafort’s work for Yanukovych became one of the media operation’s key talking points. It was meant to provide further evidence that Trump was close to the Russians, via a campaign adviser. Shearer wrote that Fusion GPS had “nothing directly on Trump.” That didn’t matter. By April, a media campaign tying the New York billionaire to Russian interests was in full swing.


An April 3 article on Politico by former Obama official Evelyn Farkas claimed that Trump posed as much of a threat to the West as Putin did. “Trump,” according to Farkas, a Russia specialist, “… is seeking to turn the United States into a post-factual society analogous to Putin’s Russia.”
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